
United Natiom · 

GENERAL 
ASSEMBLY 
FIFTH SESSION 
Official Records 

AD HOC POLITICAL COMMifflE 67th 
MEETING 

Monday, 4 December 1950, at 10.45 a.m. 

Lake Success, New York 

CONTENTS 
Page 

Palestine: repatriation of Palestine refugees and payment of compensation due 
to them (A/1323, A/1324, A/1325, A/1326, A/1346, A/1349, A/1366, 
A/1367, A/1367/Corr.1, A/1367/Add.1, A/AC.38/L.30, A/AC.38/ 
L.57, A/AC.38/L.60, A/AC.38/L.62) (continued) .................. 431 

Chairman: Mr.· Victor A. BELAUNDE (Peru). 

Palestine: repatriation of Palestine refugees and 
payment of compensation due to them (A/1323, 
A/1324, A/1325, A/1326, A/1346, A/1349, 
A/1366, A/1367, A/1367 /Corr.I, A/1367 / 
Add.I, A/AC.38/L.30, A/AC.38/L.57, A/AC.38/ 
L.60, A/ AC.38/L.62) ( continued) 

[Item 20 (c) ]* 
1. The CHAIRMAN drew the Committee's atten
tion to the fact that a great many speeches had already 
been made and asked speakers to be as brief as possible. 
He did not think, for example, that it was necessary 
to repeat arguments already put forward. 
2. Mr. SIMIC (Yugoslavia) stressed the great im
portance his delegation attached to the question of the 
ralestine refugees. He recalled the part it had taken 
in the work of the United Nations Special Committee 
on Palestine and emphasized that it had always con
sidered that a question of such international importance 
should be settled in the best interests of both the Arab 
and Jewish populations of Palestine. 
3. In the Yugoslav delegation's opinion, · the Arab 
and Jewish populations of Palestine could live in a 
single free and independent State on the basis of equal
ity of constitutional, political and economic rights. 
Establishment of a democratic order in Palestine should 
make it possible to establish friendly relations between 
the independent State of Israel and the neighbouring · 
Arab States, and the latter should benefit from the 
cultural and technical advantages which Israel would 
be in a position to bring them. 
4. It was on the basis of these considerations that 
the Yugoslav representative on the United Nations· 
Special Committee on Palestine had drawn up a plan 
for a federal system in Palestine.1 The Committee had 
not approved the plan, which the representatives · of 

* Indicates the item number on the General Assembly agenda. 
1 See Official Records of the General Assembly, Seionif 

Sission, Supplement No. 11, vol. II, appendix V. . · 

431 

India and Iran had supported. Subsequently, during 
the third session of the General Assembly, the delega
tions of India and Iran had left the minority which 
favoured a federal system and had supported the plan 
for the partition of Palestine. His delegation had been 
surprised at the indifference of the Ad Hoc Committee 
on the Palestinian question to the federal solution in 
1947. 

5. That reminder of history shed light on the mis
take the General Assembly had made in November 
1947 in adopting resolution 181 (II). At that time, 
the General Assembly had taken a decision unrelated 
to the objective reality, to the principles of the Charter, 
and to recognized human rights. The Yugoslav dele
gation had been clearsighted at that time, and it re
gretted that events had proved it right. 

6. At the present time, there was one urgent question 
and that was the deplorable situation of the Arab 
refugees. That question must be settled and the Yugo
slav delegation would support any measure to that end. 
However, the solution must take the facts into account. 
An independent State, the State of Israel, had been 
established and organized. New immigrants were still 
arriving in that State. Lastly, the relations between 
the State of Israel and the Arab States were governed 
by ,an armistice, and that made the situation abnormal. 

7. In the circumstances, the Yugoslav delegation felt 
that the question of the Palestine refugees could be 
settled in the course of direct negotiations on all out
standing questions. That idea was expressed in the 
draft resolution submitted by Israel (A/ AC.38/L.60), 
as well as in the draft resolution submitted by 
France, Turkey, the United Kingdom and the United 
States (A/AC.38/L.57). In addition, the joint draft 
resolution clearly recognized the Palestine refugees' 
right to repatriation, which was fully in accordance 
with the resohJtions the General Assembly had pre
viously adopted. 

A/ AC.38/SR.67 



432 General Assembly-Fifth Session-Ad Hoc Political Committee -

· · 8. The Yugoslav delegation shared the views of the 
authors of draft resolution A/ AC.38/L.57 on the ques
tion of whether it would be more appropriate to deal 
with sub-items 20 ( c) and ( d) of the agenda together, 
or to try first to settle sub-item 20 ( c). 

- -9. In conclusion, he said that the maintenance of 
-peace between the countries of the Middle East, i.e. 
those of the Mediterranean basin, was an essential factor 

. in the maintenance of peace throughout the world. 
10. Mr. PATIJN (Netherlands} emphasized the 
humanitarian nature of the refugee problem and the 
fears which the recent discussions had aroused in his 
delegation. He made clear his delegation's position on 
the draft resolution submitted by Egypt ( A/ AC.38/ 

__ L.30) and on the four-Power draft resolution. 
11. The Egyptian draft resolution urged, among other 
things, the need to repatriate the refugees. The Nether
lands delegation considered that such repatriation could 
take place only as part of a general settlement, after 
the parties had entered into negotiations. The General 
Assembly could not take a decision without first pro
viding the safeguards of careful preparation and being 
assured of the existence of mutual good-wi11. News 
from Egypt showed that there was growing agitation 
among , the Palestinian Arab refugees ; and uncon
trolled mass movements of refugees would be a threat 
to the security of the Middle East. The Arab States 
should therefore do all in their power to prevent that 
threat from becoming a reality. However, the terms 
of paragraph 7 of the Egyptian draft resolution, whereby 
th~ refusal by. ~ny government or authority to comply 
with the prov1s1ons of the resolution would prove the 
existence of a breach of the peace within the meaning 
of Article 39 of the Charter, bore no relation to the 
situation. Despite its importance, the problem of the 
Palestine - refugees could not be compared with other 
problems now before the· Organization, which truly 
threatened to provoke a breach of peace. 
12. The Nether lands delegation was in favour of the 
four-Power draft resolution because it was convinced 
that negotiations undertaken under the auspices of the 

· Conciliation C-ommission could give concrete results. 
The Netherlands delegation was not sure that the 
present discussion irt the Ad Hoc Political Committee 
was particularly constructive, but hoped that the Israel 
Government would understand how great was its moral 
responsibility and see that the Palestine Arabs did not 
s_uffer by Israel's accession to independence. 
13. With regard to the question of repatriation or 
resettlement with compensation, the Nether lands dele
gation preferred not to take any stand. In its opinion, 
a realistic approach was to be preferred to a dogmatic 
one. 
14. In conclusion, he stressed that it would be better 
not . to continue the lengthy exchange of accusations 
and acrimonious remarks to which the discussion had 
given ~ise. 
15. - Mr. AMMOUN (Lebanon) agreed with the 
Netherlands representative · that the discussion should 
be constructive. To that end, it was essential to re
move the many obstacles which had been placed in 
_the way of settlement, both during the negotiations at 
Lausanne and in the Ad Hoc Political Committee 
itself-as the statements of the Israel Minister for 

Foreign Affairs and of the Israel representative, Mr. 
Eban, had shown. After the Israel representative's 
speech ( 66th meeting) , and in order to make the dis
cussion clear, the Lebanese delegation felt that it must 
recapitulate certain points. 
16. First, he invited the members of the Israel dele
gation to keep themselves informed of the successive 
statements of their various representatives. If Mr . 
Eban had taken that elementary precaution, he would 
have realized that the remarks which he attributed 
to the Lebanese representative had in fact been made 
by the Israel Minister for Foreign Affairs at a pre
ceding meeting. It was in fact the Israel Minister for 
Foreign Affairs who had upheld the argument of the 
"historical process of the redistribution of popula
tion", a process which was to be substituted for the 
principles of the Charter and which would take man
kind back to the darkest and most distant times in 
the history of civilization. It was not the Lebanese 
representative who had said that human rights should 
not be respected in Israel, nor was it he who had 
tried to justify the crime. The Israel representatives' 
arguments thus turned against them. 
17. Returning to the substance of the question, Mr. 
Ammoun said that the Israel representative's state
ment that the Arab delegations had voted against 
resolution 194 (III) of 11 December 1948 was mis
taken. In point of fact, the Arab delegations had voted 
in favour of the internationalization of Jerusalem and 
the repatriation of the refugees, and, in any case, a 
new factor-the Lausanne Protocol of 12 May 1949 
(A/1367, chapter I, para. 12)-had come into play 
later. That document, signed by the Arab delegations 
and the Israel delegation, referred to the resolution 
194 (III). The signatories of the Protocol had ac
cepted the three following conditions : international
ization of the Jerusalem area within the limits and 
according.to the terms set forth in resolution 181 (II); 
repatriation of the refugees and payment of com
pensation to those who decided not to return; and, 
lastly, the fixing of territorial boundaries in accord
ance with the map attached to the Protocol. Israel 
had therefore agreed on 12 May 1949 that those con
ditions should be taken as a basis for the negotiations 
entered into under the auspices of the Conciliation 
Commission. 
18. He maintained that those negotiations had failed 
because of Israel. The Israel delegation's denials had 
no foundation. 

19. First, with regard to the internatiorialization of 
Jerusalem, the Israel delegation had categorically 
opposed the Jerusalem Committee set up by the Con
ciliation Commission ; at the same time, the Israel 
Government had declared before the National Assem
bly that the Holy City would become the capital of 
Israel. Reinforcements had been sent to the city for 
that purpose, and public services and government de
partments had been established there. Israel there
fore had lost no time in going back on its signature of 
the Lausanne Protocol. 

20. In . addition, in their memorandum of 23 May 
1949 to the Conciliation Commission, the Arab dele
gations had requested the return of the refugees to 
territories which according to the map attached to the 



67th Meeting-4 December 1950 433 

Protocol did not belong to Israel. The fact was con
firmed by the Conciliation Commission itself in para
graph 13 of chapter III of its report (A/1367). Thus, 
the Arab delegations had simply requested that the 
Protocol should be given effect. On the other hand, 
in its memorandum of 23 May 1949, the Israel dele
gation had proposed that its frontier with Lebanon 
in the north, and with Egypt in the south, should be 
identical with those of Palestine under the British 
Mandate (A/1367, chapter IV, para. 9). Subsequently, 
on 26 and 31 May 1949, the Israel delegation had pro
posed that the frontier of Israel with Jordan should 
be the same as under the Mandate, except in the central 
part where , it would follow in principle the demarca
tion line between the armed forces of Jordan and those 
of Israel (A/1367, chapter IV, para. 10). Those ex
travagant proposals had suggested little less than an 
annexation of territory which would result in doubl
ing the area as given in the map attached to the Pro
tocol. Once more Israel had refused to honour its 
signature, for its proposals were obviously contrary to 
the terms of the Protocol. 

21. Referring to the refugee question, he said that 
on 28 July 1948 the Israel delegation had suggested 
that the territorial question should be discussed simul
taneously with the refugee question (A/1367, chapter 
III, para. 18), and had added that if the Arab dele
gations accepted that suggestion the Israel delegation 
would submit new proposals on both questions, in 
accordance with the Protocol of 12 May 1949. Although 
they had little hope, the Arab delegations had accepted, 
on the recommendation of the Conciliation Commission. 
Subsequently, in a letter sent to the Conciliation Com
mission on 31 August 1949 (A/1367, chapter IV, 
para. 16) the Israel delegation had claimed all the 
other regions falling under the control and jurisdiction 
of Israel under the terms of the armistice agreements 
concluded between Israel, Egypt, Lebanon, the Hashi
mite Kingdom of the Jordan and Syria. Those were 
the exact terms of that letter. The Israel delegation's 
attitude had thus been confirmed; its intention was to 
annex territory which would double the area of Israel 
and would include Jerusalem and Nazareth. The Israel 
representative on the Ad Hoc Political Committee 
could not deny that the Chairman of the Conciliation 
Commission had addressed to the Israel delegation on 
5 September 1949 a letter protesting against the fact 
that the Israel proposal was improperly based on the 
armistice agreements (A/1367, chapter IV, para. 17). 
A copy of that letter had been sent to the Arab dele
gations for their information. 

22. Moreover, on 3 August 1949, the Israel delega
tion had told the Conciliation Commission that its 
government was prepared to receive 100,000 refugees. 
That figure apparently included the 25,000 refugees 
who had already returned to Israel, as was shown by 
paragraph 20 of chapter III of the Conciliation Com
mission's report and the statement made on 1 August 
1949 before the Israel Parliament by that , country's 
Minister for Foreign Affairs. In that way Israel would 
only be accepting 75,000 refugees, less than one-tenth 
of those awaiting recognition of their rights. More
over the probable fate of those refugees in Israel, as 
the Pakistan repr,esentative had mentioned (66th meet
ing), was that they would be absorbed into the economic 

system of Israel and resettled according to the needs 
of Israel's security. They would therefore not be return
ing to their homes but would be kept in servitude in 
labour camps. Long before the Minister for Foreign 
Affairs had put forward his theory of the redistribu
tion of populations, the Israel representative had said 
at Lausanne that during the last twenty years efforts 
had been made throughout the world to get rid of 
minority groups and that, consequently, to create a 
minorities problem in Israel through the return of the 
Arab population would be a retrograde step. But surely 
the Palestine Arabs could not be regarded as a minority 
group. 

23. In reply to the allegation by the Israel representa
tive that the Arab States had refused the proposal 
contained in the Conciliation Commission's memoran
dum of 29 March 1950 (A/1367, annex II), he said 
the Arab States had made their acceptance of the pro
posal conditional on the acceptance by Israel of the 
principle of the return of the refugees. Accordingly all 
they had done was to ask that effect be given to the 
resolution 194 (III) and the Protocol of 12 May 
1949. The Conciliation Commission had not considered 
it advisable to transmit those conditions to the Israel 
delegation, in view of the reception which the latter 
had previously given to any proposal for the return of 
the refugees. 

24. In the circumstances, he wondered-how the fate 
of the refugees could be linked to the, success of peace-
ful negotiations. · 

25. He then quoted passages from paragraphs 23 and 
25 of chapter I of the 'Conciliation Commission's re
port to show that the Arab States had proposed that 
the Conciliation Commission should itself make recom
mendations and that the Israel delegation had objected. 
That evidence could not now be denied. 

26. Accordingly, the Arab States were obliged to 
maintain the attitude which th_ey had clearly defined 
after the Conciliation Commission's memorandum of 
29 March 1950: the principle of the return of the 
refugee must be recognized. 

27. He thanked the representatives of France, Turkey, 
the United Kingdom and the United States of America 
for their explanations of their joint draft resolution 
(A/AC.38/L.57). He hoped that the attitude adopted 
by those delegations would help to settle the problem 
of the refugees in accordance with the purposes and 
principles of the United Nations, the principles of right 
and justice and the decisions of the Organization. 

Mr. Kyrou (Greece) (Vice-Chairman) took the 
chair. -

28. The CHAIRMAN proposed that the list of speak
ers should be closed at the end of the meeting. 

It was so decided. 

29. Mr. AL-JAMAL! (Iraq) said that, as his name 
came later on the list of speakers than that of the Israel 
representative, he would like to speak after him. , 

30. Mr. EBAN (Israel) pointed out that the Com
mittee had heard twenty-eight speeches by representa
tives of the Arab States. In all fairness, he asked for 
permission to speak last. . 



434 General Assembly-Fifth Session-Ad Hoc Political Committee 

:31. - The CHAIRMAN said .that, . according to rule 
114 of the rules of procedure, he could grant the right 
of reply to any member if a speech delivered after the 

. list of speakers had been closed made it desirable. 
32. Mr. TAFAZZUL ALI (Pakistan) said he would 

_ like to speak once again simply to answer criticisms 
of the draft resolution submitted by his delegation 
jointly with the delegation of Ethiopia ( A/ AC.38/ 
L.62). He therefore reserved the right to speak after 
t_he speakers on the list had . had an opportunity of 
stating their views on the draft resolution. 
33. Mr. DEJANY (Saudi Arabia) wished to com
ment on some of the remarks made early in the general 
debate (61st meeting) by the United Kingdom repre
sentative who had doubted if it was in the best interest 

. of the refugees to return to their homes and whether 
the· refugees would wish to return to Palestine when 
once they realized the conditions awaiting them in that 
country. · 
34. That statement would bring to the mind of every 
Arab the part played by the United Kingdom. There 
was no doubt that the· refugee problem had its origins 
in the decision taken by the United Kingdom during 
the First World War, when it had imposed on the 
people of Palestine a decision which it regarded as 
being in their best interests. However praiseworthy 
the United Kingdom's intentions had been, it was 
nevertheless true that that decision had involved the 
people of Palestine in the most tragic consequences. 
It might therefore be expected that the United King-

. dom would adopt an attitude of neutrality. The same 
was true of the other great Powers whose interven
tion in Palestine had been the · source of so much mis
·fortune. The test of "the interest of the population" 
which had made its first appearance in the Conciliation 
Commission's report was rather surprising, not to say 
dangerous. It would surely be more suitable and equi-

.. table to let each refugee decide for himself whether he 
preferred to return to. Palestine or to remain in the 
Arab country which had taken him in. The refugees 
should of course be told all the details of the situation 
awaiting them in Palestine, but it would be inhuman 
to deprive them of their sacred right to choose. 

· 35. The ·problem of compensation also raised very 
serious difficulties. The Israel representative had pro
posed ( 35th meeting) that the compensation granted 
to refugees for property abandoned in Palestine should 
be paid to a reintegration fund instead of directly . to 
the refugees concerned. But the value of the property 
of the refugees varied considerably and besides, the 
refugees, who had owned extensive property in Pales
tine, had mortgaged it, contracted loans secured thereby, 
and were heavily in debt. It was likely that the rein
tegration fund would not have the necessary funds to 
pay all the compensation due. Moreover, the refugees 
whose property had been seized would be the first to 
receive compensation, though purely nominal, whereas 
the rest might wait for years for a final settlement of 
their cases. Nor would it be possible to compensate 

·· refugees who had invested their capital in some enter
prise or those who were heavily in debt. For all those 
reasons, the method of" compensation through a rein
tegration fund seemed neither equitable nor wise. By 
contrast, if the compensation was paid directly to the 
refugees concerned, they would be able to use it accord-

ing to their needs; and the international contributions 
could · be used to resettle refugees who had not much 
property or who had not received a compensation suffi
cient to enable them to start a new life~ The second 
method seemed both 'just and reasonable and should 
be adopted and put into effect without delay. Th?s, 
those refugees who did · not wish to return to Palestu~e 
could be resettled, either with the help of the contri
butions paid into the fund, or with the assistance of 
compensation paid for property left behind in Israel. 

36. He proceeded to comment on the speech made at 
the 66th meeting by the Israel representative. Appar
ently the view was held in some quarters that the 
refugees were essentially the concern of the Arab 
States, who should be ready to make all the conces
sions needed in order to reach a solution. That was a 
strange point of view, and the representative of Israel 
himself had said that the refugee problem was a ~v?i:ld 
problem. All States had a share in the respons1b1hty 
and the United Nations as a whole-would be failing 
in its duty if it linked the fate of the refugees to other 
matters entirely unconnected with refugees and so cre
ated a situation which precluded a solution of the 
refugee problem forever. Obviously the Arab States 
had a great interest in the problem, . but not a selfish 
one : their interest reflected the sympathy which bound 
those States to the refugees, whose · sufferings they 
could see every day. He asked whether, if the Com
mittee were to hear the representatives of the refugees, 
it would refuse to give effect to their request, on the 
pretext that the Arab States were rightly or wrongly 
refusing to settle the political problems outstanding 
between Israel and those States. . 

37. Certain representatives had asked the Arab States 
to hasten the settlement of all those problems in order 
to maintain peace in the Middle East and also to settle 
the refugee problem, the solution of which was all 
the more necessary because it seemed increasingly dif
ficult to obtain contributions for refugee relief. The 
Arab States were doing their utmost to help the refugees 
and preserve peace. However, the maintenance of peace 
did not depend on them alone; in view of the world
wide repercussions of a breach of the peace in the 
Middle East, it was clearly the responsibility of the 
international community to ensure · a speedy solution 
of the refugee problem. 
38. In that connexion the I~rael repres.entative had 

- said that his country could not be asked to apply the 
provisions of paragraph 11 of resolution 194 (III) 
while the neighbouring Arab countries refused to nego
tiate a peace settlement; but in another connexion the 
Israel Government had declared flatly that the maxi
mum number of r:efugees it could repatriate was 100,000 
and that the repatriation in question could be consid
ered only as part of a general settlement. Thus, even 
if the Arab States consented to enter into direct nego
tiations, Israel would not consider itself in any way 
bound to carry out paragraph 11 of the resolution. 
Furthermore, according to the Director-General of the 
Ministry of Foreign Affairs of Israel, even the figure 
of 100,000, refugees would no longer be considered by 
the Israel Government. In the light of all those facts, 
it was hardly arguable that the solution of the refugee 
problem should be linked to that of all the other out
standing questions. 



67th Meeting-4 December 1950 435 

39. The real reason for Israel's refusal to repatriate 
the refugees lay neither in the absence of a general 
peace settlement nor in security considerations : it . was 
that Israel wished to lay hands on the property of the 
Arab refugees. After taking possession of Palestine 
with the blessing of the United Nations, Israel now 
wished to obtain United Nations sanction for its seizure 
of Arab property. He had previously had occasion to 
demonstrate how that purpose was to be accomplished : 
he had quoted an article from the New York Times of 
1 August 1950, according to which 25,000 acres of 
expensive urban property would be sold by the Devel
opment Authority of Israel to private buyers, a trans
action that was expected to yield the Israel Treasury 
l~rge sums of money, including some very useful for
eign exchange. The financial situation of Israel would 
clearly be adversely affected by the restoration of all 
that wealth to its rightful owners. That was why Israel 
could not consent to give it up, above all after stating 
the principle of compensation in a form which was 
tantamount to the confiscation of property. Israel's 
attitude had been encouraged by the General Assembly's 
re~uctance to take the necessary action, by the good 
faith shown by certain delegations and by the tacit 
approval of certain others. No one acquainted with 
the. facts could say he was convinced that Israel wished 
to implement paragraph 11 of the resolution, and no 
delegation had stated its willingness to stand surety 
for the payment by Israel of all the sums due as 
compensation. 
40. Referring to the argument of some delegations 
that the principle of direct negotiation was "realistic", 
he said that resolution 194 (III) had recommended 
that negotiations should be undertaken through the 
~onciliation Commission. Attempts at conciliation hav
mg proved fruitless, there was no possibility that direct 
negotiations would be any more successful. To urge 
t~e contrary was certainly not realistic, and the per
sistent efforts that were being made to link that im
possible task to the solution of the refugee problem 
seemed to conceal a plan to abolish the rights of the 
refugees. 
41. · Various draft resolutions had been presented to 
the Committee. His delegation supported the draft 
submitted by the Egyptian delegation (A/AC.38/L.30). 
It advocated a practical solution of the refugee prob
lem which would not entail any difficulties concerning 
organization since the Egyptian delegation had declared 
its willingness to alter the relevant provisions if neces
sary. If the Egyptian draft resolution failed to obtain 
the necessary majority, the Saudi Arabian delegation 
would cast its vote in support of the joint draft reso
lution of Ethiopia and Pakistan (A/AC.38/L.62). 
But it would vote against the four-Power joint draft 
resolution (A/AC.38/L.57), which-as he had ex
plained-contained provisions having nothing to do 
with the refugee problem. 

Mr. Belaunde (Peru} resumed ·the chair. 
42. TUQAN Bey (Representative of the Hashimite 
Kingdom of the Jordan) commended the representa
tives of Syria and Pakistan for their remarks during 
the preceding meetings. The question of the Palestine 
refugees had been presented very completely to the 
Committee. In particular, the exposition of Sir Mo
hammad Zafrulla Khan at the 66th meeting had clearly 

established the existence of the Arab refugees' right 
to repatriation and had dispelled any possible doubt 
_conveyed by other speeches. 
43. Referring to the draft resolutions before the Com
mittee, he said his delegation considered the four-Power 
draft resolution unacceptable because it made the re
patriation of the refugees conditional on the final set
tlement of other outstanding questions. The same 
objection applied to the draft resolution presented by 
the . Israel delegation (A/ AC.38/L.60). 

44. On the other hand his delegation was in full 
agreement with the draft resolution presented by Egypt 
and that submitted by Pakistan and Ethiopia. Although 
differently worded, those two draft resolutions were 
fundamentally the same, being based on the same gen- . 
eral principles and pursuing the same objects. 

45. Mr. DARMASETIAWAN (Indonesia) said the . 
repatriation of the Arab refugees had been presented 
as something complicated. It involved, actually, restor
ing to nearly one million human beings the full exer
cise of their rights. There seemed to be a gulf between 
the parties, which many political, economic, military, 
social and psychological factors had helped to wide~. 

46. The Committee should be guided by the humani
tarian principles set forth in the United Nations Charter. 
It should also remember that the tragic situation of . 
the refugees demanded prompt action. The delegations 
represented not only the governments of sixty States 
but also the population of the whole world. That con
ferred a special responsibility upon them, and to ex
change arguments and accusations did not help. 

47. The reports presented to the .Committee showed 
clearly that paragraph 11 of resolution 194 (II9 ~ad 
not been put into effect. For purely humamtanan 
reasons and because peace and security, must be main
tained in the area, his delegation felt that the problem 
of the repatriation of the Arab refugees should be 
solved without. awaiting the negotiation of a general 
settlement · in fact when once repatriation had been 
settled, a general settlement might be easier. His dele
gation therefore favoured the proposal, made in a 
number of draft resolutions, to establish a special agency 
or office with the specific task of dealing with repatria
tion. The different levels of economic development of 
the parties concerned were not an insurmountable dif-

. ficulty. Some adjustment would be necessary but with 
patience and understanding it was possible. Whatever 
measures were taken by the General Assembly, their 
success would depend upon the good will of the parties 
concerned. 

48. With those considerations in mind the Indonesian 
delegation had studied the draft resolutions before the 
Committee. It intended to vote for the draft resolution 
submitted by Ethiopia and• Pakistan. If that resolution 
did not receive the necessary majority the Indonesian 
delegation would have to reserve its position concern-
ing the others. · 

49. Mr. MAYRAND (Canada) regretted that after 
several days of discussion the Committee was still 
faced with two contrary views: one, that the refugee 
problem could be settled only subject to the establish
ment of normal relations between Israel and the Arab 
States, and the other, that it should be the object of a· 



-
436 General Assembly-Fifth Session-Ad Hoc Political Committee 

- ' 
separate settlement based on parai11tph 11 of reiolution 
194 (III). - · -

50. If paragraph 11 were taken literally, it was true; 
as the Syrian representative had said, that it provided 
an answer to all the questions before the Committee ; 
it contained a statement of principle both on the right 
of refugees to return to their homes or to receive com
pensation and also on the procedure to be followed 
in applying the principle. However, when law ceased 
to be in harmony with reality, to apply the law literally 
could produce the greatest injustice. _ 
51. In that connexion he felt bound to point out that 
when Mr. Pearson, the Chairman of the Canadian dele
gation, had said that the decision taken by the General 
Assembly in 1947 was a political one, he had used that 
word in the widest sense, to express the idea that the 
Palestine question was not an exclusively legal one, 
and not in the pejorative sense of a political expedient 
as some delegations had understood the term. It _ wa~ 
b_ecause the <:;anadian delegation considered the ques-

-!to.n as not ~emg a purely !egal one that it had thought 
it mappropnate to submit it to the International Court 
of Justice. 
52. The problem of refugees was legal and humani
tarian as well as political. It was clear that, from the 
point of view of human rights, refugees had an inalien-

- -able right to return to their homes and all the parties 
concerned ought to make the necessary efforts to 
enable them to -exercise that right if they wished to 
do so .. It was equally true, on the other hand, that the 
State of Israel was bound to take into account such 
ele~ents as its absorptive capacity and its security re
qmrements. The problem was a practical and human 
one which could ,not be solved merely in the abstract. 
53. The Canadian delegation, while recognizing the 
~rgency of the matter, thought -that general negotia
tions could not fail to have a beneficial influence. Re
patriation a_nd compensati.on of the refugees should go 
together with the establishment of normal relations 
between Israel and the Arab States. What was needed 
was action on both sides ; preconceived ideas benefited 
no one and were harmful to the refugees whose fate 
still remained in suspense. 
54. Proceeding to deal with the draft resolutions he 
said his delegation thought that the Israel draft r~
lution, based solely on the reports of the Conciliation 
Commission, and the Egyptian draft resolution, based 
solely on paragraph 11, resolution 194 (III), were both 
too narrow. The joint draft resolution submitted by 
Ethiopia and Pakistan referred to both those texts but 
its operative part was only concerned with the ~on
application of paragraph 11. The four-Power draft 
_ resolution was more comprehensive and hence prefer-
able to the Canadian delegation, though it regretted 
that the text was not more explicit and that the terms 

Printed in U.S.A. 

of reference of the Conciliation Commission, both re
garding repatriation and compensation and the general 
rapprochement between the parties, were not more pre
cise. But in the course of its conversations with other 
delegations, the Canadian delegation had realized that 
such suggestions might sharpen the conflict of prin
ciples and it had finally decided to adhere to the four
Power draft resolution. 
55. The spirit in which the resolution which was to 
be adopted was applied was as important as its word
ing, possibly even more important. He hoped that the 
Conciliation Commission would bring all its energy to 
the task and that the parties concerned would give evi
dence of a sincere desire to reach a settlement, so that 
the refugee problem might be solved and harmony re
established in the Middle East. 
56. The CHAIRMAN explained that, in compliance 
with a request of the Cuban delegation (65th meet
ing), the sponsors of almost all the draft resolutions 
had met and studied a number of questions put by him 
with the object of combining all the drafts into one or 
two proposals. 
57. The Committee had almost completed its general 
discussion. The Chairman was glad that it had taken 
place in an atmosphere of moderation and dignity and 
hoped that the delegates still to speak would do their 
utmost to maintain the same atmosph~re, so that he 
himself would very shortly be able to invite the Com
mittee to vote, without further discussion, on a: solu
tion which had the support of many delegations. 
58. _ Answering a question by the Chairman, Mr. 
TAFAZZUL ALI (Pakistan) explained that his only 
reason for asking to speak was to answer any criticisms 
of the draft resolution he had sponsored. 
59. The CHAIRMAN called on Mr. AL-JAMAL! 
(Iraq) who, however, pointed out that his tum to 
speak came after that of the Israel representative. 
60. Mr. EBAN (Israel) said he would leave it to 
the Chairman's sense of equity to settle whether a 
State represented by a single delegate had the right of 
final address to the Committee, when it was involved 
in a controversy with six or seven other States. If the 
Chairman could not alter the order of speakers, he 
would speak at the beginning of the following meet
ing, but reserved the right to answer any comments 
which he thought -affected the interests of his govern
ment. 
61. The CHAIRMAN pointed out that under rule 
114 of the rules of procedure the right of reply existed 
even after closure of the discussion. The Chairman 
would do everything possible to apply that rule with 
the greatest equity. He announced that the list of 
speakers was closed. 

The meeting rose at 1 p.m. 

A-40269-J anuary 1951--3,400 




